STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from Florence County
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SFP 14 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MELVIN DURANT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001390

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in permitting the prosecution to introduce a statement allegedly made by Appellant during custodial interrogation in light of the totality of the circumstances, including his extreme intoxication, demonstrating the statement was not made pursuant to a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver?

II. Did the trial judge err in permitting the prosecution to introduce a statement allegedly made by Appellant during custodial interrogation where the evidence demonstrated Appellant invoked his right to silence, was extremely intoxicated, and the officer promised to help Appellant if he agreed to cooperate?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 12, 2015, a Florence County grand jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder (2015-GS-21-00211). R. 202-203. The state, represented by David Richardson, called the case to trial before the Honorable D. Craig Brown and a jury on June 20-21, 2016. R. 1. William Vickery Meetze represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury acquitted Appellant of attempted murder, but found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). R. 192, l. 20 – R. 193, l. 6. Judge Brown sentenced Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment. R. 198, ll. 7-10; R. 204.

On June 24, 2016, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November 2014, Wiley Jones and Appellant were living in a transitional shelter in Florence, South Carolina. R. 66, ll. 3-8. The Pee Dee Transitional Shelter was a place for “folks who [were] down on their luck or [who had] no place to stay.” R. 38, ll. 8-12. The shelter provided its residents with “time to make that transition back into the real world.” R. 38, ll. 13-14. While in the shelter, Wiley and Appellant did not get along. R. 66, ll. 9-19. In fact, Wiley did not get along with a lot of people during this time. R. 66, ll. 14-19; R. 76, l. 24 – R. 77, l. 5. Wiley explained the problem: “It’s like I come from the north and I’m here in the south and my point of views in life is different and theirs is different. So we kind of clashed on not a lot of things, but on things. I got my opinion and they have theirs.” R. 66, ll. 15-19.

On November 12, 2014, Jones invited Appellant out for drinks. R. 76, ll. 7-14. According to Wiley, Appellant was telling Wiley how to spend his “earned-hard money.” R. 76, ll. 20-21. A conflict arose because Wiley believed he could spend his money the way he wanted. R. 76, ll. 21-22. Wiley claimed Appellant got offended by Wiley’s refusal to accept Appellant’s financial advice. R. 76, ll. 21-23.

When Appellant returned to the shelter, he immediately went to talk to Carl Wheeling, who was a resident of the shelter. R. 39, ll. 5-12. Although Wheeling did not act in a supervisory capacity, he was “considered sort of in charge after hours, after the staff had left.” R. 38, ll. 19-22. It was his duty “to keep the director informed of ... fights, arguments, people coming in after hours, after curfew hours, which was ten o’clock, and just sort of keep the peace.” R. 38, ll. 22 – R. 39, l. 1. Wheeling was sitting in his “little cubicle,” which was separated by a curtain from other areas. R. 39, ll. 7-10. Appellant knocked on the curtain and explained he wanted to speak to Wheeling. R. 39, ll. 10-12.

As soon as Appellant entered the cubicle, Wheeling was overwhelmed by the odor of alcohol.¹ R. 39, ll. 14-16. Wheeling noticed Appellant's speech was slurred and he was "highly agitated." R. 39, ll. 16-17. According to Wheeling, Appellant stated that he and Wiley Jones had gone to a house across from 413, where Wiley offered to buy him drinks. R. 39, l. 22 – R. 40, l. 1. Wiley started walking around "bragging about the money he had." R. 40, ll. 2-3. Viewing Wiley's behavior as impolite, Appellant pulled Wiley to the side to let him know that it was "not polite for [him] to be in somebody else's home ... flashing this money around." R. 40, ll. 6-8. Thereafter, the two men had a few words. R. 40, ll. 8-9. Appellant also told Wheeling that Wiley "had been messing with him" and that if it continued, there would "be a problem." R. 40, ll. 13-15. Wheeling thought Appellant "used the word hurt" in describing the problem. R. 40, ll. 16-20.

When Appellant finished telling this story to Wheeling, he was "very calm." R. 40, ll. 10-11. Appellant thanked Wheeling for listening and pulled back the curtain to leave. R. 40, ll. 21-24. Wiley was standing there wearing a smirk on his face – "he had been standing there through the whole conversation of [Appellant] talking to [Wheeling]." R. 40, l. 23 – R. 41, l. 1; R. 54, l. 18; see also, R. 67, ll. 4-23. Wiley confronted Appellant regarding his discussion with Wheeling, stating, "I thought we were going to leave this outside. ... [W]e had done discussed not to bring this in here." R. 41, ll. 2-4; R. 77, ll. 9-11. Thereafter, the two men had a heated argument. R. 54, ll. 3-25; R. 92, ll. 7-8. Wheeling saw the two men walk in opposite directions after this exchange. R. 41, ll. 5-6.

Wiley told the jurors that he went to the restroom after this exchange. R. 68, ll. 1-3. While standing at a urinal, Wiley "felt someone behind" him. R. 68, ll. 14-16. He claimed that

¹ The first responding officer, Jimmy Cantey, told the jurors that Appellant and Wiley were "extremely intoxicated." R. 92, ll. 9-11.

someone was Appellant and that Appellant started stabbing him with a knife. R. 68, ll. 16-18.² Wiley also told the jurors that he had his back “turned towards the wall” so he “turned around and looked” at Appellant. R. 68, ll. 18-20. Wiley claimed Appellant said, “I told you to leave me alone.” R. 69, ll. 7-8.

Minutes after seeing the two men leave his cubicle, Wheeling “heard a rumble in the bathroom.” R. 41, ll. 8-9. He went inside to investigate. R. 41, ll. 10-11. Wheeling claimed he saw Appellant holding Wiley “up against the urinal” with his left hand. R. 41, ll. 13-14. He also claimed he saw Appellant with a knife in his right hand. R. 41, ll. 14-17. Wheeling, who was weak from a recent open-heart surgery, grabbed Appellant by the arm. R. 41, l. 22 – R. 42, l. 6. This allowed Wiley to walk away. R. 42, ll. 10-13. Wheeling released Appellant, who also walked out of the bathroom. R. 42, ll. 14-16.

Initially, Wiley did not mention Wheeling’s presence in the restroom; instead, he simply said that he “ran out the bathroom.” R. 69, l. 8. However, when the solicitor asked about Wheeling, Wiley recalled Wheeling entered the restroom and grabbed Appellant’s wrist. R. 69, l. 13 – R. 70, l. 1. Wiley “scooted away” and “ran out the facility.” R. 70, ll. 1-2.

Wheeling called the shelter director to notify her of the commotion. R. 42, ll. 17-18; R. 71, ll. 6-7. Wiley called 911. R. 69, ll. 11-12; R. 70, ll. 5-6; R. 71, ll. 7-10. By the time Wheeling walked outside, the ambulance and police had arrived. R. 42, ll. 22-24; see also, R. 71, ll. 13-14. Emergency medical personnel treated Wiley, who was crouched down under a tree. R. 42, l. 24 – R. 43, l. 2. The police “threw [Appellant] up on the hood of the squad car and handcuffed him.” R. 43, ll. 12-14.

² Photographs of Wiley’s injuries were admitted into evidence. R. 73, l. 13 – R. 74, l. 1; State’s Exhibit #13; State’s Exhibit #14.

Tommy Nesmith also lived in the shelter in November 2014. R. 59, ll. 1-3. Nesmith claimed that on the night of November 12, 2014, Appellant walked outside to where Nesmith was standing near the rear of the shelter. R. 59, ll. 7-12. Nesmith was smoking a cigarette, and gave a cigarette to Appellant. R. 59, ll. 11-12; R. 60, ll. 7-10. Nesmith claimed Appellant “threw a knife across the fence.” R. 59, ll. 7-10. Three days later, Nesmith retrieved the knife, which was behind the Housing Authority. R. 60, ll. 21-25. Nesmith recalled “other people [were] being accused of having the knife” and these accusations sparked his investigation. R. 61, ll. 15-17. Upon finding the knife, Nesmith gave it to Wiley. R. 61, ll. 20-21; R. 74, l. 25 – R. 75, l. 3.

Wiley gave the knife to the shelter’s director and claimed that he explained to the director that Nesmith had found the knife. R. 75, ll. 11-14. The director called 911, and the police arrived immediately.³ R. 75, l. 14; R. 77, ll. 17-22. Later, in his testimony, Wiley admitted that Nesmith did not want to be involved so Wiley may have told the director that he, Wiley, found the knife. R. 78, ll. 1-6. Wiley also admitted that he may have told the police officer the same thing – that he, Wiley, found the knife. R. 78, ll. 7-25. After the police received the knife from Wiley and the shelter’s director, forensic testing was conducted. SLED’s forensic DNA analyst determined a swab from the knife revealed the presence of blood and Wiley’s DNA. R. 138, ll. 14-20.

³ In direct contradiction to Wiley’s testimony, the responding officer, Sam Ervin, testified that “A Mr. Jones called in to say that he had recovered a knife that was used in a stabbing case earlier.” R. 81, ll. 19-21.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in permitting the prosecution to introduce a statement allegedly made by Appellant during custodial interrogation in light of the totality of the circumstances, including his extreme intoxication, demonstrating the statement was not made pursuant to a voluntary, knowing, and intelligent waiver.

Relevant facts

When Mark Happ of the Florence Police Department arrived at the transitional shelter, another officer already had a suspect – Appellant – in custody. R. 3, ll. 10-24. Happ and Appellant initially stood outside of Happ’s car. R. 4, ll. 12-15; R. 6, ll. 4-7. The ensuing conversation was captured on Happ’s digital voice recorder. R. 4, ll. 12-20; State’s Exhibit #1. Happ advised Appellant of his rights, and then began interrogating him. R. 5, ll. 14-22.

Happ claimed there was nothing about Appellant’s “physical condition” or “mental condition” that gave him “any pause with respect to him knowing what he was doing there talking” to Happ. R. 6, ll. 20-24. Happ further claimed Appellant “seemed responsive” to his questions and never asked to terminate the interrogation. R. 6, l. 25 – R. 7, l. 5. According to Happ, Appellant did not “appear to be in need of any sort of medical attention or anything.” R. 6, ll. 11-13.

Happ was aware that Appellant had been drinking alcohol that evening.⁴ R. 10, ll. 6-8. Happ acknowledged that Appellant’s “words were slurred when he spoke.” R. 10, ll. 20-23. Happ did not conduct “any kind of testing to say what his level of intoxication was,” but it was obvious Appellant “had been drinking.” R. 10, l. 20 – R. 11, l. 1. According to Happ, it was “absolutely” possible that Appellant was “to the level of being intoxicated.” R. 11, ll. 2-4. In

⁴ The first officer on the scene described Appellant as “extremely intoxicated.” R. 22, ll. 11-25; see also, R. 92, ll. 9-11.

talking to Happ, Appellant stated he had been drinking – “[s]omething about doing shots” – at a house on Church Street. R. 11, ll. 5-14.

The audio recording confirmed obvious signs of Appellant’s intoxication, including the slurring of words and confusion at times. State’s Exhibit #1. The recording also revealed Appellant was questioned prior to the advisement of rights, specifically about a knife. State’s Exhibit #1. When Appellant initially stuttered and answered in a confusing fashion, Happ directed Appellant to a call the police received earlier in the evening at another location. State’s Exhibit #1. At times, Appellant was completely incoherent. State’s Exhibit #1. During these times, Happ would pose more direct questions to Appellant. State’s Exhibit #1.

At the conclusion of the pre-trial hearing, defense counsel moved to exclude the first statement made to Happ. Specifically, defense counsel argued the evidence showed Appellant “was extremely intoxicated to a point where he was not capable of a free and voluntary waiver” of his rights “and fully understanding those rights at the time he was questioned.” R. 24, ll. 2-7.

The solicitor argued “evidence of intoxication” did not make the statement “per se involuntary.” R. 25, ll. 6-8. According to the state, Appellant indicated he understood his rights and agreed to speak with Happ. R. 25, ll. 10-13. During that statement, Appellant “denied any involvement in the activities that evening and stuck with that story.” R. 25, ll. 13-14. While speaking with Happ, Appellant “did admit to having a knife earlier in the day, which he said fell out of his pocket.” R. 25, ll. 14-16.

After hearing the arguments of counsel, the judge stated he was unaware of any case law “that specifically says that signs of intoxication are per se prohibitive of the admissibility of a statement.” R. 27, ll. 21-23. According to the judge,

There is some case law out there which says - - US v. Pelton, 835 F.2d 1067, which was a Fourth Circuit case, and State v. Saxon, 201 S.E.2d 114, which is a

1973 case, and State v. Crawley, 562 S.E.2d 683, which says that the fact that the defendant exhibits symptoms of drug withdrawal when she confesses does not alone render her statement involuntary.

R. 27, l. 23 – R. 28, l. 4. The judge did “not find simply signs of intoxication or some evidence of intoxication - - that alone does not render the statement by [Appellant] involuntary.” R. 28, ll. 5-7. The judge concluded that Appellant “clearly was appropriately responsive to the questions that were asked of him by Officer Happ – Corporal Happ.” R. 28, ll. 7-11. In conclusion, the judge held Appellant’s statement to Happ was admissible. R. 28, ll. 18-20.⁵

Discussion

The Fifth Amendment provides that no person shall be compelled to be a witness against himself in a criminal matter. U.S. Const. amend. V. Based on the Fifth Amendment’s protection, the United States Supreme Court held that in criminal prosecutions, statements by the accused are not admissible unless the prosecution demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426, 444 (1966). However, the required use of these safeguards is required only when the accused is in custodial interrogation. State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996). The United States Supreme Court defined custodial interrogation as “questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444.

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution

⁵ Defense counsel renewed his objection when the prosecutor offered the audio recording as an exhibit during the trial. R. 96, ll. 16-18. The judge overruled the objection and permitted the recording to be introduced along with Happ’s testimony regarding the statement. R. 96, l. 19.

must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda, supra. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 694 (1996); State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Compton, 366 S.C. 671, 680, 623 S.E.2d 661, 666 (Ct. App. 2005); State v. Crawley, 349 S.C. 459, 463, 562 S.E.2d 683, 685 (Ct. App. 2002).

The waiver has two distinct dimensions. It must be “voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,” and it must be “made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.” Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986); see also State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 25, 339 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1986). It is not enough that the interrogator advised the suspect of his rights and the suspect made an uncoerced statement. The prosecution must show that the accused understood the rights. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (citing Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 573-575 (1987); Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 530 (1987)).

In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: Did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant’s will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment; such as the deprivation of food or sleep.

Id. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (internal citations omitted); see also Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 693-694 (1993). The test requires consideration of “totality of all the surrounding circumstances – both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation.” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000)(citations omitted); see also State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 384, 652 S.E.2d 444, 451 (Ct. App. 2007).

Intoxication

Over four decades ago, the South Carolina Supreme Court held “[t]he fact that one is intoxicated at the time a confession is made does not necessarily render him incapable of comprehending the meaning and effect of his words.” State v. Saxon, 261 S.C. 523, 529, 201 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1973). According to the Court, “proof that an accused was intoxicated at the time he made a confession does not render the statement inadmissible as a matter of law, unless the accused’s intoxication was such that he did not realize what he was saying.” Id. Further, the Court stated that “[p]roof of intoxication, short of rendering the accused unconscious of what he is saying, goes to the weight and credibility to be accorded to the confession, but does not require that the confession be excluded from evidence.” Id. Nevertheless, after making these pronouncements of the law, the Court ruled as follows:

While there is testimony that [Saxon] had been drinking rather heavily and was not acting normally, there is other testimony from which the conclusion may be reasonably drawn that he was not drunk and fully comprehended what he was doing and saying. In fact, [Saxon] testified, and the inferences to be drawn from his own testimony amply support the conclusion that his statement was understandingly and voluntarily given. The testimony was properly admitted in evidence.

Id. at 529-530, 201 S.E.2d at 117. Thus, the Court analyzed the evidence to determine whether there was evidence that Saxon was “not drunk and fully comprehended what he was doing and saying.” This holding contradicted the legal principles previously enunciated, which suggested that

unless an individual were intoxicated to the point unconsciousness, then any statements made by the individual were not *per se* inadmissible. The Court's holding in the case rested upon its view that evidence existed in the record that Saxon "was not drunk and fully comprehended what he was doing and saying."

Three years after Saxon, the South Carolina Supreme Court had the opportunity to examine another case in which a statement was allegedly made while the defendant was intoxicated. State v. Collins, 266 S.C. 566, 225 S.E.2d 189 (1976). Collins and a co-defendant were charged with armed robbery of a local store. Id. at 568, 225 S.E.2d at 190-191. There was no dispute that on the day of the robbery, the men "had been drinking heavily." Id. at 568, 225 S.E.2d at 191. Collins was arrested on the day of the robbery for public drunkenness. Id. at 569, 225 S.E.2d at 191. A detective questioned Collins concerning the robbery about an hour after his arrest. Id. According to the detective, he "determined, by means of a field sobriety test, that [Collins] was capable of and did understand his rights before questions were asked." Id. To the contrary, the officer who arrested Collins "stated that in his opinion, [Collins] was still intoxicated" after being questioned. Id. at 569-570, 225 S.E.2d at 191.

In deciding whether the trial judge abused his discretion in determining the statement by Collins was voluntarily and knowingly given, the South Carolina Supreme Court cited Saxon, supra, for the proposition that "[p]roof of accused's intoxication, short of rendering him unconscious of what he is saying, does not require in every case, that statements he made while in that condition be excluded from evidence." Id. at 572-573, 225 S.E.2d at 193. However, the Court based its ruling on the fact that "[t]he evidence, including the condition of the defendant presented a factual situation which the judge determined unfavorably to the defendant." Id. at 573, 225 S.E.2d at 193. See also, Gladden v. Unsworth, 396 F.2d 373, 381 (9th Cir. 1968)(ordering the state court to

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