STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County  
D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 17 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MELVIN DURANT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001390

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 15608  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

E.L. CLEMENTS, III  
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

In Miranda v. Arizona, the United States Supreme Court (USSC) created procedural safeguards to protect an individual’s right against compelled self-incrimination, holding:

[W]hen an individual is taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom by the authorities in any significant way and is subjected to questioning . . . [h]e must be warned prior to any questioning that he has the right to remain silent, that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law, that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he so desires.

Miranda, 384 U.S. 436, 478–79. Failure to comply with these constitutional safeguards renders the person’s statements inadmissible against that person. Id. The USSC has embraced a flexible approach regarding Miranda warnings whereby courts consider the totality of the circumstances. See Wyrick v. Fields, 459 U.S. 42, 47–49 (1982). The waiver must also be made with the full

awareness of the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it. Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986). The trial judge's determination of whether a statement was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made requires an examination of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the waiver. State v. Doby, 273 S.C. 704, 708, 258 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1979). The critical question is whether the defendant's "will has been overborne [or] his capacity for self-determination critically impaired . . . ." Schneekloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 225 (1973) (emphasis added).

### Effect of Intoxication

In reviewing a statement given by someone intoxicated, the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated:

The fact that one is intoxicated at the time a confession is made does not necessarily render him incapable of comprehending the meaning and effect of his words. Therefore, proof that an accused was intoxicated at the time he made a confession does not render the statement inadmissible as a matter of law, unless the accused's intoxication was such that he did not realize what he was saying. Proof of intoxication, short of rendering the accused unconscious of what he is saying, goes to the weight and credibility to be accorded to the confession, but does not require that the confession be excluded from evidence.

State v. Saxon, 261 S.C. 523, 529, 201 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1973).

In the instant case, the trial court conducted a Denno<sup>1</sup> hearing outside the presence of the jury. The court heard from both investigators and was able to review the audio recording by Officer Happ and in-car camera recordings of the statement given to Investigator Wynn. (State's Exhibits 1 and 2). Appellant maintained his intoxication rendered his statements involuntary, while the State asserted he knowingly and voluntarily gave his statements to both officers and

---

<sup>1</sup> Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

that his intoxication did not arise to the level in which he would not have understood his rights or what he was saying.

Officer Happ testified he read Appellant his Miranda rights and then had a conversation with him next to his patrol vehicle. (T.27-28; R.5-6). He testified he did not threaten, pressure, or coerce Appellant. (T.29-30; R.7-8). Further, he indicated there was nothing about Appellant's physical or mental condition that gave him any pause in regard to Appellant's ability to knowingly and voluntarily give a statement. (T.28; R.6). Additionally, he noted Appellant was responsive to the questions being asked. (T.28-29; R.6-7). Officer Happ did acknowledge that Appellant had been drinking. (T.32-33; R.10-11). Appellant's statement was recorded on Officer Happ's digital voice recorder and played for the trial court. (State's Exhibit 1).

Investigator Wynn testified he took a statement from Appellant while Appellant was in the back seat of Officer Happ's vehicle. It was recorded by Officer Happ's in-car camera and played for the trial court. (State's Exhibit 2). Investigator Wynn was asked: "So did he appear to be to a level of intoxication or have any sort of physical or mental issues that you perceived that would have given . . . you pause as far as speaking with him and getting a statement from him that night?" Investigator Wynn responded: "No." (T.39; R.17). Investigator Wynn indicated Appellant understood the nature of the questions and provided valid responses. (T.39; R.17). Investigator Wynn acknowledged Appellant had been drinking and had slurred speech. (T.40-41; R.18-19). Investigator Wynn indicated he spoke with the first officer on the scene, Officer Cantey, who informed him both the victim and Appellant had been drinking. However, Investigator Wynn did not remember Officer Cantey describing Appellant as "extremely intoxicated." (T.43; R.21). Investigator Wynn did admit Officer Cantey's incident report described both the victim and Appellant as extremely intoxicated. (T.44-45; R.22-23).

This case is similar to several considered by the South Carolina Supreme Court and other courts. In addition to Saxon, the South Carolina Supreme Court has clearly indicated intoxication does not per se render a statement involuntary. In State v. Bellue, 259 S.C. 487, 193 S.E.2d 121 (1972), the defendant contended “by reason of the use of drugs he lacked capacity to understand the Miranda warnings and to volunteer a statement.” Id. at 494, 193 S.E.2d at 123. The defendant presented the testimony of Dr. Pat Elam, general practitioner at the South Carolina Department of Corrections and clinical consultant to a drug abuse program. Dr. Elam examined the defendant in Columbia two days after he was arrested. He testified that in his opinion the defendant was “not normal” at the time of the confessions. The State presented the testimony of two police officers who indicated the defendant was normal at the time of the confession. The South Carolina Supreme Court indicated the trial court held a proper Denno hearing. The Supreme Court found no error when the trial court “made his independent determination of voluntariness and then allowed the jury to make their independent determination.” Id. at 495, 193 S.E.2d at 123.

In State v. White, this Court held that a suspect voluntarily waived his Miranda rights when he was in hospital bed on four point restraints and had been given sodium pentothal five hours prior to the questioning. State v. White 311 S.C. 289, 294-95, 428 S.E.2d 740, 743 (Ct. App. 1993). This Court stated: “The fact that he had been under medication and was strapped to his bed was, at best, only a circumstance the trial court was to consider in determining voluntariness.” Id. at 294-295, 428 S.E.2d at 743; *see also* Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473 (1986) (holding coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to a finding that a confession is not voluntary, and a defendant’s mental condition by itself and apart from official coercion does not dispose of the issue of voluntariness).

The Supreme Court considered a variation of the question in State v. Morgan, 282 S.C. 409, 319 S.E.2d 335 (1984), when a trial judge instructed the jury regarding the effect of intoxication on the voluntariness of a statement. The first question by the jury was: "Is a person legally responsible for statement he makes while under the influence?" In response, the judge stated: "... voluntary intoxication is never a defense to the commission of a crime. Since that is true, I tell you—charge you that a person is legally responsible for a statement he makes while under the influence." Id. at 413, 319 S.E.2d at 337. The judge had conducted a hearing and concluded that the Defendant's statement was voluntary even though he was intoxicated. The Court concluded the charge was not in error citing, *inter alia*, to Saxon. Id.

Other courts have also found intoxication does not render a statement involuntary. See People v. Veloz, 946 P.2d 525, 532-533 (Colo. App. 1997) (finding intoxicated defendant who was "stumbling around" and "extremely intoxicated" was properly advised of his rights and made statements voluntarily); State v. Finson, 447 A.2d 788, 792 (Me. 1982) (Even though defendant was "heavily intoxicated" the Court found "A person under the influence of alcohol is not necessarily incapable of waiving his constitutional rights or giving a voluntary statement, if despite the degree of intoxication he is aware and capable of comprehending and communicating with coherence and rationality."); U.S. v. Phillips, 506 F.3d 685 (8th Cir. 2007) (waiver was voluntary despite defendant's claimed intoxication from four ecstasy pills and a cup of brandy); United States v. Curtis, 344 F.3d 1057 (10th Cir. 2003) (found waiver knowing and voluntary even though defendant was "a little punchy," laid his head on the table, closed his eyes at times, and had bloodshot eyes when under the influence of marijuana, crack cocaine, and alcohol).

In the instant case, a review of the statements given indicated Appellant was responsive to all questions; spoke coherently when answering the questions; and while he slurred his speech

on occasion, he never appeared to be “critically impaired” such that he was not aware of what he was doing. In his statement to Investigator Wynn he even corrects several statements made by Wynn and indicates he remembers everything he has done that night even though he had been drinking. He denied involvement in the stabbing to both Officer Happ and Investigator Wynn. Further, he indicated he no longer had a knife that he had earlier, once saying it fell out of his pocket and the second time indicating it was at his cousin’s house. Appellant indicated he had been in trouble before, indicated clearly he understood his rights, and knowingly and voluntarily gave statements to Officer Happ and Investigator Wynn. (State’s Exhibits 1 and 2). Appellant was not “critically impaired,” but instead, he was aware enough of the situation to deny involvement in the stabbing and to formulate a story regarding what happened to the knife he had on his person. The trial court, after considering the totality of the circumstances, did not err in finding Appellant’s intoxication did not rise to the level necessary to render his statements involuntary.

### **Right to Remain Silent**

Additionally, the trial court properly determined the statement to Investigator Wynn was not taken in violation of Appellant’s right to remain silent. As part of Miranda’s warnings, a person subject to custodial interrogation must be given the right to remain silent and not answer questions of the officer. “Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 473. Interrogation is the express questioning, or its functional equivalent which includes “words or actions on the part of the police ... that the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 417, 405 S.E.2d 377, 381 (1991) (citing Rhode Island v.

Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 1690, 64 L.Ed.2d 297, 308 (1980)). However, “[i]f an accused makes a statement concerning the right to counsel ‘that is ambiguous or equivocal’ or makes no statement, the police are not required to end the interrogation, or ask questions to clarify whether the accused wants to invoke his or her Miranda rights.” Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 381 (2010).

After Investigator Wynn read Appellant his Miranda rights, he asked Appellant if he wanted to talk with him. Appellant responded: “No, sir.” In order to verify what Appellant stated, Investigator Wynn responded: “You don’t?” He did not continue the interrogation by asking any questions intended to elicit an incriminating response. He simply intended to verify Appellant’s response. Appellant then again stated “No” but continued by asking Investigator Wynn was speaking with him and what Investigator Wynn wanted. Investigator Wynn indicated he just wanted to ask him a couple questions. Appellant then stated: “Ok, Ok, I mean I ain’t trying to be funny.” Investigator Wynn tells him: “That’s fine, that’s your right I mean if you don’t want to talk to me about it.” Appellant then stated: “I can talk to you. I don’t mind talking to you.” Investigator Wynn then asks: “So you understand what is going on?” Appellant interrupts saying he understands what is going on and then continues to answer questions asked by Investigator Wynn.

Investigator Wynn reasonably needed to clarify Appellant’s response that he did not want to talk with him because Appellant had already given a statement to another officer and was placed in the vehicle to speak with Investigator Wynn. As the Ninth Circuit has explained: “There is a critical distinction between, on the one hand, an inquiry for the limited purpose of clarifying whether the defendant is invoking his right to remain silent or has changed his mind regarding an earlier assertion of the right and, on the other hand, questioning aimed at eliciting

incriminating statements concerning the very subject on which the defendant has invoked his right.” United States v. Lopez-Diaz, 630 F.2d 661, 665 (9th Cir. 1980); see also, United States v. Gordon, 895 F.2d 932, 940 (4th Cir. 1990) (allowing police to ask only limited questions to clarify invocation by a defendant of his or her right to remain silent).

As a result, the trial judge who considered all the testimony, listened to argument of counsel, and examined the recorded statements properly determined intoxication did not render the statements *per se* involuntary. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in finding Appellant’s statements to Officer Happ and Investigator Wynn were knowing and voluntary.

#### **Harmless Error**

Finally, any error in the admission of either statement or even both statements is entirely harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence presented in this case and the fact Appellant does not confess to the crime and instead denies involvement in his statements. See State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (holding improperly admitted evidence was harmless error given the overwhelming evidence of guilt).

The police received a call about an earlier dispute on Church Street which Appellant admitted was between him and Jones. In the phone call, it was reported Appellant had a knife. (State’s Exhibit 2). During the actual incident, the victim clearly identified Appellant as his attacker, indicating he was stabbed multiple times while in the restroom. An eye witness, Wheeling, that served as a resident supervisor of the shelter entered the restroom and witnessed Appellant stabbing Jones. Both Jones and Wheeling identified Appellant in court as the person with the knife stabbing Jones. Finally Nesmith identified Appellant as the person who exited the shelter and disposed of the knife by throwing it over the fence. Nesmith retrieved the knife, gave

it to Jones who turned it into the director of the shelter. DNA testing on the knife matched blood on the knife and blood on the wall of the shelter to Jones.

In the statements, Appellant admitted the argument at 413 Church Street, but continuously denied involvement in the stabbing. He admitted he had a knife earlier in the night as reported by the caller, but indicated it was either lost (State's Exhibit 1) or at his cousin's house. (State's Exhibit 2). He never confessed and only maintained his innocence in the statements.

As a result, the admission of the statements could not have been unduly prejudicial even if they were improperly admitted. Further, based on the overwhelming evidence presented, any error in their admission was entirely harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.